1 2 3	AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF		
4	SPOONBILL COURTYARD HOMES ASSOCIATION, INC.		
5	A Florida Corporation Not-For-Profit		
6	(Cubatantial representing of Dulawa, Con existing Dulawa		
7 8	[Substantial rewording of Bylaws. See existing Bylaws and amendments thereto for present text.]		
9	and amendments thereto for present text.		
10	The Members of SPOONBILL COURTYARD HOMES ASSOCIATION, INC. (herein, the		
11	"Association"), a corporation not-for-profit under the laws of the State of Florida, hereby adopt the following		
12	Amended and Restated Bylaws. The Amended and Restated Bylaws supersede and replace all previous		
13	Bylaws and amendments thereto. The original Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for SPOONBILL		
14	COURTYARD HOMES AT PERICO BAY CLUB was recorded at Official Records Book 1357, Page 0319 et		
15	seq. of the Official Records of Manatee County, Florida.		
16			
17	ARTICLE 1.		
18	IDENTITY		
19	1.1 Name The name of the corneration is SDOONDILL COURTYARD HOMES		
20 21	1.1 Name. The name of the corporation is SPOONBILL COURTYARD HOMES ASSOCIATION, INC. (herein, the "Association"). The Association was formerly known as Island		
22	Maintenance Association, Inc. and legally changed its name in 1996.		
23	Maintenance / 1000 daten, inc. and legally changed to name in 1000.		
24	1.2 Principal Address. The principal address of the Association is located at 1401 Manatee		
25	Avenue West, Suite 300, Bradenton, Florida 34205. The Association's Board of Directors may change the		
26	Association's principal address from time to time in the manner provided by law.		
27			
28	1.3 Adoption. These Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Association have been adopted as		
29	the Bylaws of the Association.		
30	1.4 Definitions. All terms used in these Dulaws have the same magning to the extent		
31 32	1.4 Definitions. All terms used in these Bylaws have the same meaning, to the extent applicable, as set forth in the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for Spoonbill Courtyard Homes at		
33	Perico Bay Club (herein, the "Declaration").		
34	reflect bay olds (Herein, the Beelaration).		
35	1.5 Corporate Seal. The seal of the Association shall bear the name of the corporation, the		
36	word "Florida", the words "corporation not for profit" and the year of incorporation (1992). Alternatively, the		
37	words "Corporate Seal" may serve as the seal of the Association.		
38			
39	ARTICLE 2.		
40	POWERS OF THE ASSOCIATION		
41			
42	The Association shall have all powers granted to it by Florida law, the Declaration, the Articles of		
43	Incorporation, and these Bylaws. The powers of the Association shall be exercised by its Board of Directors		
44	and its officers unless the exercise thereof is otherwise restricted in the Declaration, the Articles, the Bylaws		
45	or by law.		

ARTICLE 3. MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

- 3.1 **Annual Meetings of Members.** An annual meeting of the Members shall be held between January 1st and March 31st of each year, at a date, time and place specified by the Board. At each annual membership meeting, the Members shall elect Directors and may conduct such other business as may be properly brought before the meeting. The membership shall meet at least once each calendar year.
- 3.2 **Special Meetings.** The President or Vice President of the Association may call special meetings of the Members. In addition, it shall be the duty of the President to call a special meeting of the Members if so directed by resolution of a Majority of the Board of Directors, or upon receipt of a written petition signed by at least a Majority of the total eligible Voting Interests of the Association, which request shall state a valid purpose for the special membership meeting. The notice of any special meeting shall state the date, time, and place of such meeting and the purpose(s) thereof. No business shall be transacted at a special meeting except as stated in the notice.
- 3.3 **Notice of Meetings.** The Association shall provide proper notice of all members' meetings. The meeting notice shall include an agenda and shall state the date, time and place for which the meeting is called. The notice shall be mailed, emailed or hand-delivered to each Member at the Member's designated address as it last appears on the books of the Association. The Association shall provide notice of the meeting to all Members not less than fourteen (14) days or more than sixty (60) days prior to the date of the membership meeting. The person providing the notice of the membership meeting shall provide proof of proper and timely notice by affidavit. Notwithstanding any other provision herein, notice of meetings of the Board of Directors, membership meetings, and committee meetings may be given by electronic transmission to those Members who consent to receive notice by electronic transmission.
- 3.4 **Quorum.** The presence, in person or by proxy, of Members representing at least twenty percent (20%) of the eligible total Voting Interests in the Association shall constitute a quorum at all membership meetings of the Association. Members may attend a membership meeting in person or by proxy or by means of remote communication if permitted by Board resolution as provided in Section 617.0721, Florida Statutes. A voting interest or consent right allocated to a Lot or Member which has been suspended by the Association may not be counted towards the total number of Voting Interests necessary to constitute a quorum, the number of Voting Interests required to conduct an election, or the number of Voting Interests required to approve an action under the HOA Act or pursuant to the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws.
- 3.5 **Proxies.** Members may vote in person, by means of remote communication if permitted by duly-adopted Board resolution as more fully provided in Section 617.0721, Florida Statutes or by proxy; provided, however, that the form of the proxy substantially meets the requirements of Florida law. A proxy may be made by any person entitled to vote, and must be filed with the Secretary of the Association before or at the appointed time of the meeting or prior to the reconvening of an adjourned meeting. Proxies shall not be used in the election of directors. To be valid, a proxy must state the date, time, and place of the membership meeting for which it was given, and must be signed by the person(s) authorized to cast the vote on behalf of the Lot. A proxy is effective only for the specific membership meeting for which it was originally

given, and as the meeting may lawfully be adjourned and reconvened from time to time. Proxies automatically expire ninety (90) days after the date of the membership meeting for which it was originally given. A proxy is revocable at any time at the pleasure of the person who executes it. If the proxy so provides, any proxy holder may appoint, in writing, a substitute to act in his or her place.

3.6 Adjournment of Meetings. A Majority of the Association's total eligible Voting Interests who are present (in person or by proxy) at a membership meeting may adjourn the meeting to a date, time and place no more than ninety (90) days from the date the original meeting was called. At the reconvened meeting, if a quorum is present, any business which might have been transacted at the meeting originally called may be transacted. If the date, time and place for reconvening the meeting are not announced at the meeting before an adjournment is taken, notice of the new date, time and place for the reconvened meeting shall be given to the Members in the manner prescribed in Article 3.4 above. Any business that might have been transacted on the original date of the meeting may be transacted at the adjourned meeting.

3.7 **Waiver of Notice.** Notice of a membership meeting may be waived by a Member before or after a membership meeting. A Member waives any defect or lack of notice by attending a membership meeting, except when that attendance is for the expressed purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting to the transaction of business because the meeting is not lawfully called.

3.8 **Presiding Officer.** The chairperson at all membership meetings shall be the President. The President may, however, designate any other person to preside. In the absence of the President or the President's designee, the Members present (in person or by proxy) may designate any other person to preside as chairperson of the meeting.

 3.9 **Minutes of Meetings.** The Secretary or the Secretary's designee shall keep the minutes of the membership meeting. The minutes of the membership meetings shall be kept in a business-like manner and be available for inspection and copying by the Members or their authorized representatives at any reasonable time. The Association shall maintain these minutes for as long as required by the Homeowner's Association Act.

3.10 **Written Action by Members.** Any action required by law or the Governing Documents to be taken at a meeting of the Members, or any action which may be taken at a meeting of Members, may be taken without a meeting if consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the required percentage of Members entitled to vote with respect to the subject matter thereof. Such Member action by written agreement shall comply with the procedural requirements of Section 617.0701(4), Florida Statutes.

3.11 **Order of Business.** Unless otherwise determined by the meeting chairman, the order of business at annual membership meetings, and as far as practical at all special membership meetings, shall be as follows:

- (A) Election of Chairperson (if President absent)
- 134 (B) Calling of the roll and certifying proxies
 - (C) Proof of meeting notice or waiver of notice
 - (D) Reading and disposal of unapproved minutes
 - (E) Reports of officers

138	(F)	Reports of committees		
139	(G)	Appointment by President of inspectors of election		
140	(H)	Election of directors		
141	(1)	Unfinished business		
142	(\dot{J})	New business		
143	(K)	Announcements		
144	(L)	Adjournment		
145	,	·		
146		ARTICLE 4.		
147		VOTING		
148				
149	4.1 Voting	Rights. Unless otherwise provided in the HOA Act, the Owner of each Lot shall be		
150		as a Member of the Association. The manner of exercising such voting rights shall		
151				
152		ursuant to the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws or Florida law. The		
153	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
154	•	s, the Owners of Lots shall be entitled to cast one (1) vote per Lot.		
155	g	(,) (
156	4.2 Vote R	lequired. The acts approved by a Majority of the total eligible Voting Interests present		
157		at a membership meeting at which a quorum is obtained shall constitute the acts of		
158	the Members, except when approval by a greater number of Members is required by Florida law, the			
159	Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws. The term "Majority" as used in these Bylaws and			
160	other Governing Documents and instruments in reference to voting by Members and the Board of Directors			
161	shall mean more than fi	~ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
162				
163	4.3 Certificate	e of Voting Representative.		
164		3		
165	4.3.1 Single	Owner. If a Lot is owned by one person, his or her right to vote shall be established		
166	by the record title to his	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		
167	by the receive the to the	of flot Edit		
168	432 Multin	le Owners. If the Lot is owned by more than one person, the person entitled to cast		
169	-	I be designated by a certificate signed by all of the record Owners of the Lot, and filed		
170	with the Secretary of the			
171	with the occidially of the	= A3300Idtion.		
172	4.3.3 Marrie	d Owners. In the event a Lot is owned by a married couple, that Lot's vote may be		
173		roxy by either spouse, provided that there shall be only one vote per Lot. No voting		
174	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	ired. However, if both spouses cast a vote and the votes do not agree, the vote shall		
175	•	e matter under consideration in which the conflict arose, whether the conflict appears		
176	by vote in person or by	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
177	by vote in person or by	proxy.		
178	4.3.4 Corpo	ration or LLC. If a Lot is owned by a corporation or limited liability company		
179	-			
180	("LLC"), the person entitled to cast the vote for the Lot shall be designated by a certificate of his or her appointment signed by the president or vice president and attested by the secretary or assistant			
181	secretary of the corporation or an authorized member of the LLC, and filed with the Secretary of the			
182	Association.	and the art authorized member of the LLO, and med with the decretary of the		
104	<i>เ</i> เออบบเฉนบที.			

- 184 185
- 186
- 187
- 188 189
- 190 191 192 193 194
- 195 196 197
- 198 199 200 201 202 203 204 205
- 206 207 208
- 209 210 211

213

214 215 216

217

- 218 219 220 221
- 222 223 224
- 225 226
- 227

- 4.3.5 **Partnership.** If the Lot is owned by a partnership, the person entitled to cast the vote for the Lot shall be designated by a voting certificate signed by a partner.
- 4.3.6 **Trust.** If the Lot is owned by a trust, the person entitled to cast the vote for the Lot shall be designated by a voting certificate signed by the trustee of the trust.

Such voting certificate shall be valid until revoked and until superseded by a subsequent certificate or until a change in the ownership of the Lot concerned. A certificate designating the person entitled to cast a vote of Lot may be revoked by any Owner or Voting Representative thereof. All such voting certificates must be filed with the Association. If a voting certificate is not on file for a Lot owned by multiple Owners, a corporation, partnership or trust, then the vote for that Lot shall not be considered in determining a quorum or for any other purpose.

4.4 Suspension of Voting Rights. The Association may suspend the voting rights of a Member for the nonpayment of any monetary obligation due to the Association that is more than ninety (90) days delinquent. A voting interest allocated to a Lot or Member which has been suspended by the Association may not be counted towards the total number of Voting Interests for any purpose, including, but not limited to, the number of Voting Interests necessary to constitute a quorum, the number of Voting Interests required to conduct an election, or the number of Voting Interests required to approve an action under the HOA Act or pursuant to the governing documents. The suspension ends upon full payment of all obligations currently due or overdue to the Association. All suspensions of a delinquent Member's voting rights must be approved at a properly noticed Board meeting. Upon approval, the Association must notify the Lot Owner of the suspension by mail or hand delivery.

ARTICLE 5. **ELECTION OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

- 5.1 Number and Term of Directors. The governance and administration of the affairs of the Association shall be vested in the Board of Directors consisting of five (5) Directors. Directors shall serve two (2) year staggered terms of office. Any Director whose term is expiring may stand for re-election. All Directors shall serve until their respective successors shall have been duly elected and qualified, or until their earlier resignation or removal.
- 5.2 Qualifications for Election. A Director must be a natural person who is at least eighteen (18) years of age or older. A Director must be a Lot Owner or the spouse of a Lot Owner. If a Lot is owned in trust, a Director may be trust grantor or a trust beneficiary who occupies the Lot. A convicted felon whose civil rights have not been restored for at least five (5) years as of the date of election is not eligible to serve as a Director. A person who is more than ninety (90) days delinquent in the payment of any fee, fine, or other monetary obligation to the Association is not eligible to serve as a Director. The validity of any action by the Board of Directors is not affected if it is later determined that one or more Directors was not eligible to serve on the Board.
- **Election of Directors.** The election of Directors shall be conducted at the annual 5.3 membership meeting, in the following manner:

240 241 242

248 249 250

252 253 254

255

256

257

258

251

259 260 261

264

262

268 269

- 5.3.1 Not less than sixty (60) days before a scheduled election of Directors, the Association shall mail, email or deliver to each Lot Owner entitled to vote, a first notice of the date of the election. Any Lot Owner or other eligible person desiring to be a candidate for the Board of Directors shall give written notice to the Association not less than forty (40) days before a scheduled election. Not less than fourteen (14) days nor more than thirty-four (34) days before the membership meeting at which the election will occur, the Association shall mail, email or deliver a second notice of the meeting to all Lot Owners entitled to vote, together with a written Director election ballot which shall list all Director candidates in alphabetical order by surname. Upon request of a Director candidate received by the Association at least thirty-five (35) days prior to the election, the Association shall include with the second mailing of the director election ballot a candidate information sheet, not larger than 8 1/2 inches by 11 inches, furnished by the Director candidate to the Association. The costs of mailing and copying of the Director candidate information sheets shall be paid by the Association.
- 5.3.2 Written Director ballots shall be sealed in an inner, smaller envelope labeled "Director Ballot". The Director ballot envelope shall be placed in a larger outer envelope. The larger outer envelope must be sealed and shall be signed by the Lot Owner in the upper right hand corner, with the Lot Owner's name and printed name stated thereon. It is the intent of the Members to follow the Director election procedures of the Condominium Act (Chapter 718, Florida Statutes) to the extent those procedures are not in conflict with the Homeowner's Association Act (Chapter 720, Florida Statutes) or these Bylaws.
- 5.3.3 Written Director election ballots will be available for use by those Owners attending the meeting in person. No Lot Owner shall permit another person to cast his or her Director election ballot, and any such improperly cast ballot shall be deemed invalid. Proxies shall not be used in the election of Directors. Any Lot Owner who violates this provision may be fined by the Association.
- If more persons are nominated than there are vacancies to be filled, the election shall be by secret written ballot. Each person voting is entitled to cast his or her vote for each of as many nominees as there are vacancies to be filled. The nominees receiving the greatest number of votes properly cast shall be elected. Elections shall be decided by a plurality of the votes cast. There shall be no cumulative voting. Tie votes shall be broken by agreement among the Director candidates who are tied, or absent such an agreement, by chance, such as the flipping of a coin by a neutral third party or the drawing of straws. An election is not required unless more candidates file notices of intent to run than Director vacancies exist.
- There shall be no quorum requirement for the election of Directors; however, at least ten percent (10%) of the eligible voters must cast a Director election ballot to have a valid election.
- Any election dispute between a Lot Owner and the Association shall be submitted to mandatory binding arbitration with the Division of Florida Condominiums, Timeshares and Mobile Homes in the manner provided by law.
- Removal of Directors and Vacancies. Any Director may be removed or recalled from 5.4 office with or without cause, upon the written agreement of a Majority of the total Voting Interests of the Association in the manner provided by law. Unless otherwise provided by law, upon removal of a Director, a successor shall be appointed by a Majority of the remaining Board of Directors to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the term of such Director. Any Director who is delinquent in the payment of any fee, fine,

Assessment or other monetary obligation to the Association for more than ninety (90) days is not eligible for Board membership and shall be automatically removed from office. In the event of the death, disability, or resignation of a Director, the remaining members of the Board may elect a successor to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the term of such Director.

5.5 **Compensation.** A Director, officer or committee member of the Association may not receive any salary or any other compensation from the Association for the performance of duties as a Director, officer or committee member and may not in any other way benefit financially from service to the Association. This subsection does not preclude: (A) participation by such person in a financial benefit accruing to all or a significant number of Members as a result of actions lawfully taken by the Board or a committee of which he or she is a Member, including, but not limited to, routine maintenance, repair, or replacement of community assets; (B) reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses incurred by such person on behalf of the Association, subject to approval in accordance with procedures established by the Association's Governing Documents or, in the absence of such procedures, in accordance with an approval process established by the Board; (C) any recovery of insurance proceeds derived from a policy of insurance maintained by the Association for the benefit of its Members; (D) Any fee or compensation authorized in the governing documents; or (E) any fee or compensation authorized in advance by a vote of a Majority of the Voting Interests voting in person or by proxy at a meeting of the Members.

Organizational Meeting. The organizational meeting of a newly elected Board of Directors for the purpose of electing officers shall held within ten (10) days after the annual meeting of the Members at such date, time and place as shall be fixed by the Board of Directors at the membership meeting at which they were elected. No further notice of the Board's organizational meeting shall be necessary unless business in addition to the election of officers is to be considered at that meeting.

5.7 **Regular Board Meetings.** A meeting of the Board of Directors occurs whenever a quorum of the Board gathers to conduct Association business. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at such date, time and place as shall be determined, from time to time, by a Majority of the Directors or on the call of the President or Vice President. A meeting of the Board must be held at a location that is accessible to a physically handicapped person if requested by a physically handicapped person who has a right to attend the Board meeting.

5.8 **Special Board Meetings.** Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the President, the Vice President or at the request of any two (2) directors. If at least twenty percent (20%) of the Voting Interests deliver a written request to the Board to address an item of business, the Board shall at its next regular meeting, or at a special meeting of the Board, but not later than sixty (60) days after the receipt of the request, place the item on the Board's meeting agenda.

5.9 **Notice of Board Meetings.** Notice of Board of Directors' meetings shall be given to each Director personally or by mail, email, telephone, facsimile transmission or telegraph, and posted in a conspicuous place in the community at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the meeting, except in the case of an emergency. Any Director may waive notice of a meeting before or after the meeting and such waiver shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of notice. Attendance by a Director at a meeting shall constitute waiver of notice of the meeting, except where a Director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

- 5.10 **Special Notice of Certain Board Meetings.** In addition to the notice required by Article 5.9 herein, an Assessment may not be levied at a Board meeting unless the notice of the meeting includes a statement that Assessments will be considered and the nature of the Assessments. Written notice of any meeting at which special assessments will be considered or at which amendments to rules regarding Lot use will be considered must be mailed, delivered, or electronically transmitted to the Members and posted conspicuously on the property or broadcast on closed-circuit cable television not less than fourteen (14) days before the membership meeting.
- 5.11 **Attendance at Board Meetings.** A Director may attend and participate in a Board meeting via telephone, real-time videoconferencing, or similar real-time electronic or video communication and such participation counts toward a quorum, and such Director may vote as if physically present. A speaker must be used at the meeting site so that the conversation of such person may be heard by all persons attending the meeting in person. Directors may use e-mail as a means of communication, but may not cast a vote on an Association matter via e-mail.
- 5.12 **Quorum and Agenda.** A quorum at Director's meetings shall consist of a Majority of the entire Board of Directors. The acts approved by a Majority of those present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall constitute the act of the Board of Directors; except where approval by a greater number of Directors is required by the HOA Act, the Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws. The designation of the agenda for Board of Directors' meetings shall be at the discretion of the President. However, the President shall be obligated to include any lawful item on the agenda for a Board meeting if requested in writing by two (2) Directors.
- 5.13 **Adjournment.** A Majority of the Directors who are present at a Board meeting may adjourn the meeting from time to time as determined appropriate by the Directors. At the adjourned meeting, any business which might have been transacted at the Board meeting as originally called may be transacted without further notice.
- 5.14 **Conduct of Meetings.** The President shall preside over all meetings of the Board of Directors and the Secretary or management shall keep a minute book containing written records of meetings of the Board of Directors, recording therein all resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors and all transactions and proceedings occurring at such meetings as well as a notation as to any Director who abstained from voting or voted contrary to the prevailing opinion. No votes at any Board of Directors meeting may be by proxy or secret ballot, except that secret ballots may be utilized in the election of officers. A Director who is present at a Board meeting at which action on any corporate matter is taken shall be presumed to have assented to the action taken unless the Director votes against the action or abstains from voting. A vote or abstention shall be recorded in the minutes.
- 5.15 **Open Meetings.** Except for meetings with the Association's attorney for the purpose of legal advice with respect to proposed or pending litigation and meetings to discuss personnel matters, meetings of the Board of Directors shall be open to all Lot Owners. Any Member may tape record or videotape open meetings of the Board of Directors subject to reasonable rules adopted by the Board. The right to attend Board meetings includes the right to speak at such meetings with reference to all designated agenda items in accordance with any reasonable rules adopted by the Board of Directors. The Member's right to speak shall not exceed three (3) minutes unless the time to speak is extended by the presiding officer.

376 Board of Directors or to the Association President. A resignation is effective when the notice is delivered 377 unless the notice specifies a later date. If the resignation is made effective at a later date, the members of 378 the Board of Directors (including the Director whose resignation is not yet effective) may vote to fill the 379 pending vacancy before the effective date if the Board provides that the successor does not take office until 380 the effective date. 381 382 5.19 Order of Business. Unless otherwise determined by the meeting chairman, the order of 383 business at Board of Directors' meetings shall be as follows: 384 385 (A) Roll call 386 (B) Proof of meeting notice or waiver of notice Reading and disposal of unapproved minutes 387 (C) (D) Reports of officers and committees 388 Election of officers, if any 389 (E) 390 (F) Unfinished business 391 (G) New business 392 (H) Announcements 393 (I) Adjournment 394 395 ARTICLE 6. 396 **OFFICERS** 397 398 6.1 Officers. The executive officers of the Association shall be a President, Secretary, and 399 Treasurer, all of which are to be elected from among the members of the Board. The Board of Directors may 400 appoint such other officers, including one (1) or more Vice Presidents, one (1) or more Assistant Secretaries 401 and one (1) or more Assistant Treasurers, as it shall deem desirable, such officers to have the authority and 402 perform the duties prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors. Any two (2) or more offices may 403 be held by the same person, except the offices of President and Secretary. The Board of Directors from time to time shall elect such other officers and assistant officers and may designate their powers and duties as 404 405 the Board shall find to be required, to manage the affairs of the Association. 406 407 6.2 Election Term of Office and Vacancies. The officers of the Association shall be elected 408 annually by the Board of Directors at the first meeting of the Board of Directors during a fiscal year. A vacancy

Delegation of Board Functions. The Board of Directors may delegate any or all of the

Minutes of Meetings. The minutes of all Board meetings shall be kept in a business-like

Resignation. A Director or officer may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the

functions of the Secretary or Treasurer to a management agent or employee, provided that the Secretary or Treasurer shall in such instance generally supervise the agent or employee in the performance of such

manner in a book available for inspection by Lot Owners or their authorized representatives at any reasonable

time. The Association shall maintain these minutes for a period of not less than seven (7) years or as

365

366

367368

369370

371

372

373

374375

functions.

otherwise required by the HOA Act.

5.18

in any office arising because of death, resignation, removal, or otherwise may be filled by the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the term.

6.3 **Removal.** Any officer may be removed by a Majority vote of the Board of Directors in the sole discretion of the Board and the removal of a Director who also is an officer shall automatically act as a removal from such Director's position as an officer.

6.4 **Resignation.** Any officer may resign at any time by giving written or email notice to the Board of Directors, the President, or the Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect on the date of the receipt of such notice or at a later time specified in the notice and unless otherwise specified in the notice, the acceptance of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

6.5 **President.** The President shall be a director and the chief executive officer of the Association and shall: act as presiding officer at all meetings of the Members and the Board of Directors, call special meetings of the Members and the Board of Directors, sign, with the Secretary or Treasurer if the Board of Directors so requires, all checks, contracts, promissory notes, leases, subleases and other instruments on behalf of the Association, except those which the Board of Directors specifies may be signed by other persons, perform all acts and duties usually required of a chief executive to ensure that all orders and resolutions of the Board of Directors are carried out, and act as an ex-officio member of all committees and render an annual report at the annual meeting of Members.

6.6 **Vice President.** The Vice President, in the absence or disability of the President, shall exercise the powers and perform the duties of the President. The Vice President also shall assist the President generally, and exercise other powers and perform other duties as shall be prescribed by the Directors.

6.7 **Secretary.** The Secretary shall have the following duties and responsibilities: attend the regular and special meetings of the Members and the Board of Directors and keep all records and minutes of proceedings thereof or cause the same to be done, have custody of the corporate seal, if any, and affix the same when necessary or required, attend to all correspondence on behalf of the Board of Directors and Members and act as agent for the transfer of the corporate books, and have custody of the minute book of the meetings of the Board of Directors and Members and act as agent for the transfer of the corporate books.

Treasurer. The Treasurer shall: receive monies as shall be paid into his hands for the account of the Association and disburse funds as may be ordered by the Board of Directors, taking proper vouchers for disbursements and be custodian of all contracts, leases and other important documents of the Association which he shall keep or cause to be kept safely deposited, supervise the keeping of accounts of all financial transactions of the Association, in accordance with good accounting practices, in books belonging to the Association and deliver the books to his successor. The Treasurer shall prepare and distribute to all of the members of the Board of Directors prior to each annual meeting, and whenever else required, a summary of the financial transactions and conditions of the Association from the preceding year. The Treasurer shall make a full and accurate report on matters and business pertaining to his office to the Members at the annual meeting and make all reports required by law, may have the assistance of management, an accountant or auditor, who shall be in agreement, it shall be proper to delegate any or all of the Treasurer's functions to the management agent as is deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors.

454					
455	ARTICLE 7.				
456	COMMITTEES				
457					
458	7.1	Standing Committees. Unless dissolved by the Board of Directors, the standing			
459	committees of the Association shall be as follows:				
460					
461	(A)	The Architectural Review Committee			
462	(B)	The Compliance Committee			
463	(C)	The Finance Committee			
464	(D)	The Landscape Committee			
465	(E)	The Insurance Committee			
466	(F)	The Pool Committee			
467	(G)	The Social Committee			
468	(H)	The Welcome Committee			
469	(1)	The Irrigation Committee			
470	(J)	The Newsletter Committee			
471					

Unless otherwise provided herein, each committee shall consist of at least two (2) members, all of whom must be Members of the Association or a Member's designated voting representative. The Board of Directors shall appoint committees within thirty (30) days after the annual membership meeting. Members of the committee shall elect their chairperson. The members of each committee shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors or until the succeeding committee members have been appointed or until their earlier resignation.

7.2 **Architectural Review Committee.** The Architectural Review Committee shall have the duties and functions as provided in the Declaration and Section 720.3035, Florida Statutes.

7.3 **Compliance Committee.** The Compliance Committee shall advise the Board of Directors of all matters pertaining to maintenance, repair, alteration or improvement of the subdivision property and shall perform or see to the performance of such other functions as the Board, in its discretion, determines.

7.4 **Finance Committee.** The Finance Committee shall perform such duties as the Board of Directors or the Treasurer may require. The Finance Committee shall assist with the audit, review or compilation of the Association's financial records by a CPA.

 7.5 **Landscape Committee.** At the option of the Board, the Board may appoint a Landscape Committee whose responsibilities among other things, shall be to oversee the landscaping of the grounds, beautification of and maintenance of the common properties as well as those properties situated outside of the several units. The Board may furnish the Landscaping Committee with such contractual services as may be required.

7.6 **Insurance Committee.** The Insurance Committee shall function as advisor, research group, reviewer of all insurance proposals and such other duties relative thereto as may be required by

the Board of Directors to fulfill the obligations imposed upon the Association by the governing documents.

7.7 **Pool Committee.** The Pool Committee shall be responsible for the day-to-day operation and maintenance of the pool and surrounding improvements.

7.8 **Social Committee.** The Social Committee shall encourage social activities, cohesion and comradery within the Subdivision and may develop and hold social activities for the Owners and residents.

7.9 **Irrigation Committee.** The Irrigation Committee shall be responsible for the operation, inspection, maintenance, repair and generally overseeing the various irrigation systems located within the Subdivision.

7.10 **Newsletter Committee.** The Newsletter Committee shall develop and publish a newsletter (either in print or digitally, or both) for the Subdivision and its Lot Owners and residents.

7.11 **Ad Hoc Committees.** The Board of Directors may from time to time appoint such ad hoc committees as it deems necessary.

7.12 **Powers of Committees.** Committees will report to and be under the direction of the Board of Directors. Committee members may be removed, with or without cause, upon Majority vote of the Board of Directors.

7.13 **Term of Office.** A person appointed to serve on a committee shall continue as such until the next annual membership meeting and until his or her successor is appointed, unless the committee be terminated sooner or the person be removed from the committee by the President, with the confirmation of the Board of Directors, the person resigns, or unless such person shall cease to qualify as a member on the committee.

7.14 **Committee Meetings.** Unless otherwise provided by law, all meetings of any committee of the Association shall be open to all members. Notice of the time and place of any committee meeting shall be posted in a conspicuous place within the Community at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the time of the meeting. In the alternative, notice of the meeting may be mailed or delivered to all members at least seven (7) days in advance of the meeting. Notice of committee meetings may be published or in the alternative each committee may provide members with a pre-arranged schedule of meetings.

7.15 **Quorum and Procedures.** A committee may act only when a quorum (a simple Majority) is present. The act of a Majority of the members present at a committee meeting shall be the act of the committee. Any committee or other body with authority to make a final decision with regard to the expenditure of Association funds or with the power to approve or disapprove architectural decisions with respect to a Lot shall follow the same procedures as the Board of Directors with regard to posting or mailing of meeting notices for members, agendas, attendance and participation by members, as required by the Homeowner's Association Act. All other Association committees and similar bodies are exempt from the procedural meeting and notice requirements of Homeowner's Association Act and these Bylaws. Such committees shall adopt their own procedural rules and requirements.

7.16 **Scope and Rules.** Each committee shall abide by the scope and stated purpose of the committee as defined by the President and as confirmed by the Board of Directors, and may adopt rules for its operation consistent with these Bylaws and with rules adopted by the Board of Directors.

7.17 **Reports and Action.** Every committee shall report its findings directly to the President, the Board of Directors or to the Board of Directors' designee. A committee may not take any action on behalf of the Association unless the Board of Directors adopts a written resolution specifically empowering the committee to take such action.

ARTICLE 8. FISCAL MANAGEMENT

- 8.1 **Fiscal Year.** The fiscal year of the Association shall commence upon the first day of January and conclude on the thirty-first day of December. The Board of Directors is authorized to change the dates of the fiscal year as it determines appropriate in the manner provided by law.
- 8.2 **Budget.** A Majority of the Board of Directors shall adopt a budget for each fiscal year that shall include the estimated funds required to defray the expenses of the Association for the fiscal year and to provide and maintain funds for the accounts established by the Board of Directors, in accordance with good accounting practices as set forth herein. The Association shall provide each Member with a copy of the annual budget or a written notice that a copy of the budget is available upon request at no charge to the Member. The Association's Board of Directors may, but shall not be required to, establish, fund and maintain adequate reserve accounts for the periodic maintenance, repair and replacement of the common property and other matters as determined appropriate by the Board of Directors.
- 8.2.1 **Assessment Roll.** The assessment roll shall be maintained in a set of accounting books in which there shall be an account for each Lot. Such an account shall designate the name and address of the Owner or Owners of each Lot, the amount of each assessment against the Owners, the dates and amounts in which the assessments come due, and the amounts paid upon the account, and the balance due upon assessments.
- 8.2.2 **Annual Budget.** The Board of Directors shall, upon advance written notice to the Members of the Association as required by the Homeowner's Association Act to adopt, in advance, an annual budget for each fiscal year that shall include the estimated funds required to defray the common expenses and to provide and maintain funds for the common expenses of the Association.
- 8.3 Annual Budget Assessment. The annual assessment, to fund the Association's annual budget, shall be paid by the Lot Owners per the payment schedule as provided in the Declaration. If an annual budget is not adopted or notice is not provided to the Lot Owners, the preceding budget and annual assessment shall continue until such budget is adopted or such notice is provided, as applicable. In the event the annual assessment proves to be insufficient, the budget and the assessment may be amended at any time by the Board of Directors. The unpaid assessment for the remaining portion of the fiscal year, for which the amended assessment is made, shall be due as provided by the Board of Directors. The Board may elect to allow Owners to pay the annual assessment in installments due not less frequently than monthly.

595

596

8.4.1 **Non-Statutory Reserve Accounts.** If the annual budget of the Association includes reserve accounts established by the Board of Directors and not by the developer or by a membership vote, such reserves shall be determined, maintained, and waived as determined appropriate by the Board of Directors of the Association.

597 598 599

600

601

602

603

604

605 606

607

608

609

610

611 612

613

614 615

616

617

Statutory Reserve Accounts. If the annual budget of the Association includes reserve 8.4.2 accounts established by the developer or by a membership vote, as more fully provided in Section 720.303(6)(d), Florida Statutes, the Association shall thereafter determine, maintain, and waive those statutory reserves in compliance with that statute. This section does not preclude the termination of a reserve account established pursuant to this paragraph upon approval of a Majority of the total Voting Interests of the Association. Upon such approval, the terminating reserve account shall be removed from the budget. The amount to be reserved shall be computed by a formula that is based upon estimated remaining useful life and estimated replacement cost or deferred maintenance expense of each reserve item. The Association may adjust replacement reserve assessments annually to take into account any changes in estimates of cost or useful life of a reserve item. Funding formulas for reserves shall be based on either a separate analysis of each of the required assets or a pooled analysis of two or more of the required assets. Once a statutory reserve account or reserve accounts are established, the membership of the Association, upon a Majority vote at a meeting at which a quorum is present, may provide for no reserves or less reserves than required by Section 720.303(6), Florida Statutes. If a meeting of the owners has been called to determine whether to waive or reduce the funding of statutory reserves and a Majority of the Members present do not affirmatively vote to waive or reduce reserves, the statutory reserves as included in the budget shall go into effect. Any vote taken pursuant to this subsection to waive or reduce statutory reserves shall be applicable only to one budget year. Reserve funds and any interest accruing thereon shall remain in the statutory reserve account or accounts and shall be used only for authorized reserve expenditures unless their use for other purposes is approved in advance by a Majority vote at a meeting at which a guorum is present.

618 619 620

621

8.5 **Expenses.** The receipts and expenditures of the Association may be credited and charged to accounts as the Board of Directors may determine, in accordance with good accounting practices as set forth herein.

622623624

625

626 627

628 629 8.6 **Depositories.** The funds of the Association shall be deposited in such accounts as may be selected by the Board of Directors, including without limitation checking and savings accounts in one (1) or more banks and/or savings and loan associations, Certificates of Deposit, U.S. Treasury Bills and money market accounts with an investment firm or firms, all in accordance with resolutions approved by the Board of Directors. The funds shall be used only for lawful purposes of the Association, as determined by the Board of Directors. Withdrawal of monies from such accounts shall be only by checks or other appropriate instruments signed by such persons as are authorized by the Board of Directors.

630 631 632

633

634

635 636 8.7 **Fidelity Bonds.** The Association shall purchase and maintain blanket insurance or fidelity bonding for all persons who control or disburse funds of the Association, including without limitation those individuals who are authorized to sign checks and the Association President, Secretary and Treasurer and any contractor or employee handling or responsible for Association funds. Each fidelity bond purchased by the Association shall name the Association as an obligee of the bond. The premiums for bonds shall be paid

by the Association as a common expense. The fidelity bonds shall cover the maximum funds that will be in the custody of Directors, officers or employees of the Association, or a management agent, at any time while the bonds are in force. Each bond shall include a provision requiring ten (10) days' written notice to the Association before the bond can be cancelled or substantially modified for any reason.

8.8 **Accounts and Reports.** The following management standards of performance will be followed unless the Board by resolution specifically determines otherwise:

8.8.1 Accrual accounting (exclusive of depreciation and amortization); as defined by generally accepted accounting principles, shall be employed;

8.8.2 Accounting and controls should conform to generally accepted accounting principles;

8.8.3 Cash accounts of the Association shall not be commingled with any other accounts;

8.8.4 No remuneration shall be accepted by a manager from vendors, independent contractors, or others providing goods or services to the Association, whether in the form of commissions, finder's fee, service fees, prizes, gifts, or otherwise;

8.8.5 Any financial or other interest which a manager may have in any firm providing goods or services to the Association shall be disclosed promptly to the Board of Directors;

8.9 Financial Report. A financial report shall be prepared annually by the Association and completed, or its preparation and completion shall be contracted for with a third party within ninety (90) days after the close of the fiscal year. Within twenty-one (21) days after the final financial report is completed by the Association or received from the third party, but not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year, the Association shall either: (A) furnish a copy of the report to each Member, or (B) provide a written notice to each member that a copy of the report is available upon request at no charge to the member. Any copy requested by a Member shall be furnished within ten (10) business days after receipt of the request. Financial reports shall be prepared according to the requirements of Section 720.303(7), Florida Statutes and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. If not less than twenty percent (20%) of the Members petition the Board for a level of financial reporting higher than that required by Section 720.303(7). Florida Statutes, the Association shall duly notice and hold a meeting of Members within thirty (30) days of receipt of the petition for the purpose of voting on raising the level of reporting for that fiscal year. Upon approval of a Majority of the total Voting Interests of the Members, the Association shall prepare or cause to be prepared, shall amend the budget or adopt a special assessment to pay for the financial report regardless of any provision to the contrary contained in the Governing Documents and shall provide the required financial statements within ninety (90) days of the meeting or the end of the fiscal year, whichever occurs later.

8.10 Agreements, Contracts, Deeds, Leases, Checks, Etc. All agreements, contracts, deeds, leases, checks, and other instruments of the Association shall be executed by the President and Secretary or by such other Members of the Board or officers of the Association as may be designated by resolution of the Board of Directors.

- 8.11 **Insurance.** The Association shall procure, maintain and keep in full force and effect insurance as may be required by the Declaration, and the Homeowner's Association Act, to protect the interests of the Association.
- 8.12 **Acceleration of Assessments.** In the event any special or regular assessment is delinquent by more than thirty (30) days, the Board of Directors shall have the right to accelerate the due date of the entire unpaid balance of the Lot's annual and all special assessments for that fiscal year upon notice to the Lot owner, and then the unpaid balance of the assessment shall come due upon the date stated in the notice, but not less than ten (10) days after delivery of the notice to the Lot Owner, or not less than twenty (20) days after the mailing of such notice to him by registered or certified mail, whichever shall first occur.
- 8.13 **Competitive Bids.** All contracts as further described in this section or any contract that is not to be fully performed within one (1) year after the making thereof for the purchase, lease, or renting of materials or equipment to be used by the Association in accomplishing its purposes under the HOA Act or the governing documents, and all contracts for the provision of services, shall be in writing. If a contract for the purchase, lease, or renting of materials or equipment, or for the provision of services, requires payment by the Association that exceeds ten percent (10%) of the total annual budget of the Association, including reserves, the Association must obtain competitive bids for the materials, equipment, or services. The Association is not required to accept the lowest bid. Notwithstanding the foregoing, contracts with employees of the Association, and contracts for attorney, accountant, architect, community association manager, engineering, and landscape architect services are not subject to the provisions of this Section. Nothing contained in this section is intended to limit the ability of the Association to obtain needed products and services in an emergency. This section does not apply if the business entity with which the Association desires to enter into a contract is the only source of supply within the county serving the Association.

ARTICLE 9. ENFORCEMENT

- 9.1 **Enforcement**. In addition to all other remedies provided for in the Declaration or Florida law, the Association's Board of Directors shall have the power to impose reasonable fines on a violator and a Lot Owner for failure of such Owner, his family members, guests, invitees, tenants and licensees to comply with any provisions of the Homeowner's Association Act, the Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws or the Association's Rules and Regulations. The Lot Owner shall be jointly and severally liable for any fine imposed on his or her family member, guest, invitee, tenant or licensee. A fine of more than \$1,000 shall constitute a lien upon the Lot of the responsible Lot Owner and may be foreclosed on in the same manner as delinquent assessments.
- 9.2 **Fining**. The Association may levy reasonable fines. A fine may not exceed \$250 per violation against any Member or any Member's tenant, guest, or invitee for the failure of the Owner of the Lot or its occupant, licensee, or invitee to comply with any provision of the Declaration, the Bylaws, or reasonable Rules of the Association unless otherwise provided in the Governing Documents. A fine may be levied by the Board for each day of a continuing violation, with a single notice and opportunity for hearing, except that the fine may not exceed \$5,000.

- 9.2.1 **Levy of Fine**. The Board of Directors may levy a fine at a duly-noticed Board of Directors' meeting. A fine or suspension levied by the Board of Directors may not be imposed unless the Board first provides at least fourteen (14) days' notice to the Lot Owner and, if applicable, any occupant, licensee, or invitee of the Lot Owner, sought to be fined or suspended and an opportunity for a hearing before a committee.
- 9.2.2 **Committee.** A committee of at least three (3) members appointed by the Board who are not officers, directors, or employees of the Association, or the spouse, parent, child, brother, or sister of an officer, director, or employee. If the committee, by Majority vote, does not approve a proposed fine or suspension, the proposed fine or suspension may not be imposed. The role of the committee is limited to determining whether to confirm or reject the fine or suspension levied by the Board. If the proposed fine or suspension levied by the Board is approved by the committee, the fine payment is due five (5) days after the date of the committee meeting at which the fine is approved. The Association must provide written notice of such fine or suspension by mail or hand delivery to the Lot Owner and, if applicable, to any tenant, licensee, or invitee of the Lot Owner.
- 9.2.3 **Enforcement and Collection.** A fine of less than \$1,000 shall become a lien against a Lot and may be foreclosed in the same manner as delinquent assessments. In the event a person refuses or otherwise fails to timely pay a fine, the Association may mediate if and as required by law and proceed with legal action in a court of competent jurisdiction to collect the sum. In any action to recover a fine, the prevailing party is entitled to reasonable attorney fees and costs from the non-prevailing party incurred incident to the collection of the fine, as determined by the court. Fines not paid within thirty (30) days shall accrue interest at the highest rate allowed by law (currently eighteen percent (18%) per annum) and a late fee of Twenty-Five (\$25) Dollars. Any final judgment obtained by the Association shall be recorded in the public records and filed with the Florida Secretary of State and shall accrue interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum. The Lot Owner shall be jointly and severally liable with the Owner's family members, tenant, guest or invitee for the payment of the fine.
- 9.3 **Suspension of Use Rights.** In the event of any noncompliance with this Declaration, subsequent to written notice and hearing pursuant to this Article 9, the Association may suspend, for a reasonable period of time, the rights of a Member or Member's tenants, guests or invitees, or both to use the common areas and facilities.
- 9.4 **Nonpayment of Assessments; Voting Rights.** The Association may suspend the voting rights of a Member for the nonpayment of fines, fees, Assessments and other monetary obligations of the Member that are delinquent in excess of ninety (90) days. Such voting rights shall be automatically restored for future voting upon receipt of cleared funds for full payment of all amounts due to the Association.
- 9.5 **Additional Enforcement Rights.** Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained, the Association's Board of Directors may, but shall be under no legal duty or obligation to, enforce any provisions of the Declaration, these Bylaws or the Rules and Regulations by suit at law in equity to enjoin any violation or to recover monetary damages or both without the necessity of compliance with the procedure set forth above. In any such action, to the maximum extent legally permissible, the violator shall pay all costs, including reasonable attorney's and paralegal's fees, actually incurred by the Association.

the Board of Directors shall be responsible for defining the term in its reasonable discretion. The Board of

- Directors may refer to the Florida Building Code (latest edition), the common or historical use of the term in the community or refer to a common dictionary when defining a term. The Board of Directors' definition shall be binding on all parties unless wholly unreasonable and arbitrary. A written opinion rendered by legal counsel that a definition adopted by the Board of Directors is not wholly unreasonable and arbitrary shall conclusively establish the validity of such definition.
- 11.3 **Conflicts.** The term "Governing Documents," as used in these Articles of Incorporation and elsewhere shall include the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, the Rules and Regulations of the Association, the Plats, Surveys, Plot Plans, and graphic descriptions of improvements of record, and all other exhibits to the original Declaration. In the event of a conflict between the language in the Declaration and the graphic descriptions of record, the graphic description of record shall control. In the event of a conflict in any of the Governing Documents, the documents shall control in the following order:

- A. Declaration:
- B. Articles of Incorporation;
- C. Bylaws; and
- D. Rules and Regulations.

11.4 **Gender.** The use of the term "he," "she," "his," "hers," "their," "theirs" and all other similar pronouns should be construed to include all genders and encompass the plural as well as the singular.

11.5 **Severability.** In the event that any provisions of these Articles of Incorporation are deemed invalid, the remaining provisions shall be deemed in full force and effect. If any Bylaw, section, clause, phrase or provision is adjudicated to be invalid, such fact shall not affect the validity of any other Bylaw.

11.6 **Headings.** The headings of paragraphs or sections herein are for convenience purposes only, and shall not be used to alter or interpret the provisions therein.

11.7 **Parliamentary Rules.** Robert's Rules of Order (then current edition) shall guide the conduct of all membership and Board meetings when not in conflict with Florida law, the Articles of Incorporation, the Declaration, or these Bylaws.

11.8 **Enforcement of Documents.** Notwithstanding anything else contained herein, the Association's Board of Directors shall have the right, but never the duty or legal obligation, to enforce and require compliance with the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, Rules and Regulations authorized hereby, and architectural standards or guidelines against Lot Owners, their tenants, residents, invitees, contractors, vendors and guests. In the discretion of the Board of Directors, enforcement shall be by proceedings for injunctive relief, declaratory relief and/or monetary damages.

11.9 **Attorney's Fees and Waiver.** The prevailing party in any civil action, mediation or arbitration proceeding brought to enforce the Governing Documents or state law shall be entitled to recover their reasonable attorney's fees and costs from the non-prevailing party. The Association may also charge a Lot for any reasonable attorney's fees and costs incurred in obtaining compliance by the Owner, tenant or resident thereof and such charge shall be payable and collectible in the same manner as an assessment by the Association as provided in the Declaration. The failure to enforce any provision of the Governing Documents shall in no event be deemed a waiver of the right to enforce as aforesaid thereafter as to the

863	0 ,	subsequent thereto. Failure to enforce same shall not give rise		
864		with respect to parties aggrieved by such failure.		
865				
866		hts, remedies and privileges granted to the Association hereunder		
867	shall be deemed to be cumulative and the	shall be deemed to be cumulative and the exercise of any one or more shall not be deemed to constitute an		
868	election of remedies, nor shall it preclude the party thus exercising the same from exercising such other and			
869	additional rights, remedies, or privileges as may be granted to such other party by the Association's			
870	Governing Documents, or at law or in equity.			
871	,	,		
872	These Amended and Restated Byla	aws were duly adopted at the, 2021 membership		
873	meeting of SPOONBILL COURTYARD HOMES ASSOCIATION, INC.			
874	S .	,		
875		POONBILL COURTYARD HOMES ASSOCIATION, INC.		
876		TOTALE TOTAL TARB HOMES ACCOUNTION, INC.		
877		an:		
		gn: As its President		
878		AS its President		
879	,			
880	A	ttest:		
881		As its Secretary		